## I. INTRODUCTION

State agencies must follow the law. They can no more disregard the express directives of a voter initiative than a legislative command. Yet that is exactly what the State Liquor Control Board did when it knowingly disregarded and indeed rewrote Initiative 1183's mandate to sell at public auction "the right at each state-owned store location of a spirits retail licensee to operate a liquor store upon the premises" and instead auctioned a different right – the right to operate a liquor store at any location within a one-mile radius of the state store location.

The State's unilateral decision to separate retail licenses from state store locations violated the express terms of the Initiative and resulted in punishing monetary losses to state store landlords, including the Plaintiffs. The State knew that such landlord losses would likely occur and that, as written, the Initiative protected the landlords' interests, but in its zeal to drive up auction prices for retail liquor licenses the State charged ahead with its radical rewrite. Adding insult to injury, the State also disregarded the Initiative's requirement that it adopt rules "to address claims that this act unconstitutionally impairs any contract . . . and to provide a means for reasonable compensation of claims it finds valid." No such rules were adopted and no such compensation was paid.

The trial court excused and validated the State's failure to follow the statutory requirements when it granted the State's motion for judgment on the pleadings and summarily dismissed Plaintiffs' Complaint without even considering evidence showing the State's willful repudiation of its statutory obligations. The court's rulings effectively gave the State a free pass for its lawless behavior, and were erroneous. The orders should be reversed and the case remanded for trial.

## **II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

1. The State was required to follow the express directive in Initiative 1183 ("I-1183") to sell by auction "the right at each state-owned store location of a spirits retail licensee to operate a liquor store upon the premises." RCW 66.24.620(4)(c). It willfully disregarded this directive and instead auctioned a different right – the right to operate a liquor store within one radius mile of each state store location. The State knew that this radical alteration of the directive had no textual support in the statute and that its implementation would seriously impair the rights of state-store landlords. The State Liquor Control Board ("LCB") plunged ahead anyway, in order to drive up prices for the rights being auctioned, and thus agency revenues. In allowing the LCB to terminate Plaintiffs' leases based on a deliberate misinterpretation of the statute, the trial court erred.

2. Even if the LCB had the power to terminate the leases based on I-1183, it breached its duty of good faith and fair dealing in terminating them without honoring and implementing provisions of I-1183 intended to protect landlord interests. In granting the State's motion for dismissal the trial court failed to apply the standard for a CR 12(c) motion for judgment on the pleadings and failed to treat the motion as one for summary judgment as CR 12(c) required. Genuine issues of material fact precluded summary judgment and the motion should have been denied.

3. The trial court erred in striking and refusing to consider Plaintiff's evidence, based on a patent misapprehension of the parol evidence rule. The evidence was admissible under the context rule and relevant to the meaning of specific contract terms. It was also relevant to proving Plaintiffs' claim that the State breached its contractual obligation of good faith and fair dealing when it terminated Plaintiffs' leases without honoring provisions of I-1183 intended to protect landlords.

4. The trial court erred in dismissing Plaintiffs' alternative constitutional claims for impairment of contract and taking of private property where the State not only presented no supporting argument or authority supporting dismissal but admitted that it took no steps to satisfy I-1183's directive that it adopt rules "to address claims that this act



unconstitutionally impairs any contract . . . and to provide a means for reasonable compensation of claims it finds valid.”

### **III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Since this appeal is from an order granting a motion for judgment on the pleadings, the allegations of Plaintiffs’ Complaint are the starting point for the Court’s review. Those allegations are summarized below and followed by a discussion of key additional facts developed in discovery.

#### **A. Allegations of Plaintiffs’ Complaint**

Plaintiffs’ First Amended Complaint (“Complaint” [CP 3-42]) alleges in pertinent part as follows:

1. Plaintiffs Fedway Marketplace West, LLC (“Fedway”) and Garland & Market Investors, LLC (“Garland”) are former lessors of state liquor store locations. In 2007, Garland leased premises in Spokane to the LCB as Store No. 051. In 2010, Fedway leased premises in Federal Way to the LCB as Store No. 015. (The two leases are referred to herein as the “Store Leases.”) Each lease was for a 10-year term. As required by the Store Leases, Fedway and Garland constructed tenant improvements conforming to LCB’s strict specifications. LCB agreed to pay rent for the term of each lease. (¶¶ 7, 8, 12 [CP 4-6].)<sup>1</sup>

---

<sup>1</sup> Unless otherwise indicated, “LCB” as used herein refers to the agency, not to the Board itself.

2. The Store Leases contained an identical provision allowing lease termination in the event that the enactment of a law “shall prevent either party hereto from complying with or carrying out the terms of this Lease.” (§ 11 [CP 5-6].)

3. Pursuant to the express language of Section 102(4)(c) of I-1183, approved by the voters in the November 8, 2011 election, LCB was directed to sell by auction “the right at each state-owned store location of a spirits retail licensee to operate a liquor store upon the premises.” (§ 14 [CP 6-7].)

4. Instead of auctioning the right at each state-owned store location to operate a liquor store upon the premises, LCB advised bid winners that they could request an alternative location within one radius mile of the existing store location if they were unable to secure a lease with the landlord of the state store. (§ 15 [CP 7-8].)

5. LCB did not auction the Store Leases and did not require bid winners to assume the Store Leases. (§ 16 [CP 8].) Nothing in the Store Leases and nothing in I-1183 prohibited LCB from assigning the Store Leases or subletting the leased premises to the bid winners for each location. (Id.) LCB had the authority to auction off state-run liquor store facilities operated in leased premises by assigning and requiring the bid

winner for each location to assume the unexpired Store Lease for that store facility, and could have done so. (Id.)

6. LCB notified Fedway that it was terminating its Store Lease effective May 31, 2012 and notified Garland that it was terminating its Store Lease effective July 31, 2012. (¶¶ 17-18 [CP 8-9].) The sole basis cited by LCB for terminating the Stores Leases was the termination provision in the Store Leases.

7. In February 2012, LCB advised landlords of state liquor stores in writing that “LCB will pay for remaining unamortized tenant improvement expenses.” (¶ 20 [CP 9].) LCB has not paid Fedway and Garland for unamortized tenant improvement expenses. (¶ 21 [CP 9].)

8. Solely to mitigate its damages arising from LCB’s termination of its lease, Fedway entered into a 12-month lease (despite Fedway wanting a term to match the remaining 8 years under the LCB lease) with the bid winner for its store location at a rent that is \$3,832 less per month than the LCB was paying. (¶ 22 [CP 10].)<sup>2</sup> Garland does not have a tenant to occupy its store space and is receiving no rental income. (Complaint ¶ 23 [CP 10].) As a result of LCB’s actions, Plaintiffs will suffer a substantial loss of rental income and will incur other incidental and consequential damages. (¶ 24 [CP 10].)

---

<sup>2</sup> The tenant defaulted and ceased operating two months later. [CP 122 at ¶ 5]

9. I-1183 expressly required LCB to auction all assets over which it had power of disposition. (§ 14(d) [CP 7].) The Store Leases were assets over which LCB had power of disposition. (§ 38 [CP 13].)

10. I-1183 required LCB to auction off “state liquor store facilities” including “the right at each state-owned store location” to operate a liquor store “upon the premises.” In auctioning off state liquor store facilities without their associated unexpired Store Leases, LCB exceeded the authority granted to it under I-1183, acted in derogation of that authority and violated I-1183’s express provisions. (§ 38 [CP 13].)

11. At the time the Store Leases were entered into, it was actually foreseen by LCB, or reasonably should have been foreseen, that laws would be passed privatizing the sale of liquor in Washington State. (§ 39 [CP 14].)

12. The Store Leases were drafted by LCB and failed to include any provision allowing termination in the event LCB became unable to sell liquor. Rather, the Store Leases permitted termination only if “the enactment of any law or the decision of any court of competent jurisdiction shall prevent either party hereto from complying with or carrying out the terms of this Lease.” While I-1183 directs LCB to close all state liquor stores, it does not direct it to terminate Store Leases or to repudiate its obligation to pay rent for the unexpired terms of Store

Leases. Accordingly, I-1183 does not prevent LCB from complying with or carrying out the terms of the Store Leases, and its attempt to terminate the Store Leases on that basis is wrongful. (§ 40 [CP 14].)

13. Section 303 of I-1183 provides that the Department of Revenue “must develop rules and procedures to address claims that this act unconstitutionally impairs any contract with the state and to provide a means for reasonable compensation of claims it finds valid, funded first from revenues based on spirits licensing and sale under this act.” In failing to develop and implement such rules and procedures to compensate landlords holding Store Leases impaired as a result of the State’s actions and inaction, the State violated Section 303 and the covenant of good faith and fair dealing in the Store Leases. (§ 46 [CP 15].)

**B. Additional Evidence Submitted**

In addition to the allegations in the Complaint, Plaintiffs submitted compelling evidence consisting of deposition testimony and documents authored by LCB officials.<sup>3</sup> The evidence included the following:

Privatization of liquor had been a topic of discussion and contingency planning at the LCB for years prior to the November 2011

---

<sup>3</sup> The LCB officials who gave deposition testimony were Christopher Marr (LCB Board Member), Patricia Kohler (LCB Administrative Director), Pat McLaughlin (former LCB Director of Business Enterprise), Steven Meissner (former LCB District Manager) and Suzanne Lewis (former LCB Leasing Manager). [CP 118-19 at ¶ 2]

election. (McLaughlin Dep. at 11:11-18 [CP 168]; Kohler Dep. at 7:15-23 [CP 140] (“privatization discussions have probably been going on for the last five years”).)

At the time I-1183 took effect on December 8, 2011, the LCB and its senior management clearly understood that the initiative directed it to auction the right to operate a liquor store at each existing store location (hereafter the “Existing Location Requirement”). When asked about a PowerPoint presentation dated December 12, 2011 which stated that “the auction is for the right to operate a liquor store at the existing location,” Board Member Chris Marr testified “Yes, that fits with my understanding of what the initiative addressed.” (Marr Dep. at 19:24-20:9 [CP 127]; see also McLaughlin Exh. 4 (the PowerPoint presentation) at 549 [CP 336] and Marr Exh. 2 at 271 [CP 234] (“LCB is directed to . . . sell by auction open to the public, the right to operate a liquor store at each state-operated store location.”))

Agency Director Patricia Kohler likewise admitted that “the initiative directed the agency to auction stores at existing location[s].” (Kohler Dep. at 18:15-19:2 [CP143].) Director of Business Enterprise Pat McLaughlin, whom Kohler tapped to lead the agency’s asset divestiture under I-1183, testified to his understanding “that the auction that was going to be conducted was for the right to operate a liquor store at the

existing state store location.” (McLaughlin Dep. at 18:5-19, 86:20-24 [CP 171].) And LCB District Manager Steven Meissner, who led the Auction Team, authored a February 1, 2012 Auction Issue Paper stating, “Initiative 1183 requires the LCB to conduct public auctions for the right to sell spirits at the existing location of each state liquor store.” (Meissner Dep. at 30:24-31:9 [CP 201]; see also McLaughlin Dep. at 34:13-35:1 [CP 174].)

Despite this unanimous understanding that the Initiative required the agency to auction the right to sell liquor at existing store locations, LCB management felt that the requirement gave landlords a lot of negotiating power with bid winners and was concerned that honoring the requirement would reduce auction proceeds. In a January 2012 email, Director of Retail Chris Liu stated that the Existing Location Requirement could create a “landlord oligarchy” and “lessen[ ] the value of the license” being auctioned. (McLaughlin Exh. 7 at 3391 [CP 347].) Director Kohler noted that if the license was auctioned for the existing store location only, “that would give the landlords a lot of control.” (Kohler Dep. at 38:25-39:4 [CP 150].) McLaughlin recalled “acknowledging that if indeed the rights are associated to a specific store it could give leverage to a landlord.” (McLaughlin Dep. at 24:13-25:2 [CP 172].)

In fact, Director Kohler felt that the framers of I-1183 had made a mistake in requiring the LCB to auction the right to operate at the existing store locations. In talking points for a television interview given in the first half of 2012, Kohler acknowledged that the LCB had been “directed to auction stores at existing location[s]” but said this was a “flaw in [the] initiative” because the LCB leases but does not own the stores. (Kohler Exh. 1 at 43 [CP 294]; see also Lewis Exh. 18 at 260 [CP 436] (Kohler email stating “this is a flaw in the initiative”).)

To implement I-1183’s auction provision, LCB staff developed a set of recommendations and presented them to the Board on February 1, 2012 in an Auction Issue Paper. The Auction Issue Paper recommended that each landlord be given the right to either opt in or opt out of leasing to the bid winner. “For any State Store location where a landlord opts out or a successful bidder cannot be identified, an alternate location in the community will be selected and pursued for auction for ‘rights’ as if it were the original location.” (McLaughlin Exh. 10 at 46 [CP 350].) McLaughlin explained that the opt-out recommendation was intended to address instances where a landlord was contractually unable to lease to the bid winner because of restrictive lease covenants with other tenants. (McLaughlin Dep. at 45:25-46:15 [CP 175].)



The Auction Issue Paper recognized that a “drawback” of the recommended approach was that “[s]electing alternate community locations [for landlords contractually unable to lease to persons other than the State] could draw some criticism from a literal interpretation of what I-1183 allows.” (McLaughlin Exh. 10 at 46 [CP 350].) McLaughlin acknowledged that the “literal interpretation” he was referring to was the Existing Location Requirement. (McLaughlin Dep. at 40:5-8 [CP 175].)

Consistent with the Auction Issue Paper’s recommended approach, a PowerPoint presentation was given to landlords at an LCB Landlord Informational Forum stating that “Landlords have the option of allowing their premise to be included in the auction process.” (Lewis Exh. 31 at 456 [CP 451]; see also Kohler Dep. at 28:2-17 [CP 145] (confirming that the PowerPoint was used at February 1, 2012 Landlord Forum); Meissner Exh. 7 at 13 [CP 383] (“strategy . . . will incorporate information from landlords re: bundling and selling store contents and lease”).)

Within days of this February 1, 2012 meeting, however, the LCB did a complete about-face. Rejecting the recommendation for landlord opt-in/opt-out (see Kohler Dep. at 34:7-14, 35:22-36:4 [CP 148-149]), it decided to give bid winners the right to relocate from the existing store locations. Instead of auctioning “the right at each state-owned store location of a spirits retail licensee to operate a liquor store upon the

premises,” as the language of Section 102(4)(c) of I-1183 directed (now codified at RCW 66.24.620(4)(c)), the LCB decided to auction the right at the existing location or within one radius mile of the existing location (hereafter the “Relocation Policy”). This is reflected in notes from a February 13, 2012 Board Caucus Meeting (McLaughlin Exh. 16 at 007 [CP 354]: “allow consideration for alternate locations”) and auction information emailed to the third-party auctioneer on February 14, 2012 that refers to auctioning the right at the existing location “with option for alternate w/i 1 mile.” (McLaughlin Exh. 17 at 005 [CP 360].)

The LCB material sent to the auctioneer candidly observed that “[a]llowing for alternate locations could be interpreted as violating the intent of I-1183.” (Id. at 006 [CP 361].) McLaughlin acknowledged that he “recognized as of February 14, 2012 that there was risk associated with allowing for alternate locations.” (McLaughlin Dep. at 70:24-71:7 [CP 186].) In a meeting with the LCB Board and executive management, McLaughlin further noted that allowing the bid winner to move locations “gives [the] potential bidder a lot of control.” (Meissner Exh. 5 at 032 [CP 380]; McLaughlin Dep. at 44:19-45:4 [CP 176-177] (Q: “If the bidder can move the liquor rights to another location, that takes away from the amount of landlord control and gives control to the bidders, do you agree?

A: I can see that, yes. Q: And that's what you were referencing here at this February 1st meeting? A: Yes.")

The Relocation Policy was approved on an informal basis before the auction. (McLaughlin Dep. at 92:17-22 [CP 191].) But it was not until many months later, in September 2012, long after the auction had been held, that it was formalized as LCB Policy. (Kohler Exh. 10 [CP 326-327]; Kohler Dep. at 59:16-22 [CP 157].)

LCB's executive team admits there is nothing in I-1183 that provides for relocating the right being auctioned and nothing about a one radius mile exception to the Existing Location Requirement. See Marr Dep. at 39:4-25 [CP 132] ("I'm not aware that the word 'relocation' appears in the initiative. Q: Does the word or words 'one mile from existing location' – A: Not to my understanding."); Kohler Dep. at 55:10-14 [CP 155] (agreeing that there is "nothing in I-1183 about a one radius mile relocation"); McLaughlin Dep. at 49:22-50:3 [CP 178-179] (same).

Concerned about the risk posed by the Relocation Policy, LCB management sought approval from the Attorney General's office. See Kohler Dep. at 54:9-55:9 [CP 155]; McLaughlin Dep. at 51:4-8 [CP 179] ("We didn't go to legal counsel for every policy decision but I think much of the areas that you're asking questions around were based on our legal advice and I could see, you know, the court, they could decide to uphold

or to challenge that advice. I can see that.”); Marr Dep. at 31:14-32:2 [CP 131] (“not saying AG’s interpretation is infallible”). After consulting with counsel, new, euphemistic phraseology quickly appeared which described the auction as being for the right to a retail license “associated with” the former state store location. (McLaughlin Exh. 22 at 050 [CP 366]; Exh. 24 at 400 [CP 370] (“A successful bidder owns the exclusive rights to apply for a spirit retail license associated with the location of the former state liquor store”) and McLaughlin Dep. at 96 [CP 193]; the “associated-with” wording “was developed in consultation with our legal counsel.”)

The obvious purpose of the Relocation Policy was to drive up the price of the rights being auctioned in order to produce a higher return to the LCB. McLaughlin agreed that “driving maximum value for the state” was an objective (McLaughlin Dep. at 25:18-22 [CP 172]) and Director Kohler testified that “the goal” of the auction was to generate maximum reasonable value. (Kohler Dep. at 53:17-19 [CP 154].) Concerns had been expressed by senior management that “if licenses and locations are not transferable it lessens the value of the license” and thus the agency’s ability to maximize proceeds. (McLaughlin Exh. 7 at 3991 [CP 347].)

Another threat to maximizing the LCB’s return was the unexpired store leases. In 2011, the LCB determined it would cost more than \$50 million to buy out the unexpired leases, plus millions more to reimburse

unamortized tenant improvements. (Marr Exh. 3 at 007 [CP 240]; Lewis Exh. 4 at 3516 [CP 391].) Board Member Marr testified that eliminating costs was a guiding principle. (Marr Dep. at 30:25-31:8 [CP 130-131].)

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