COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

FEDWAY MARKETPLACE WEST, LLC, a Washington limited liability company, and GARLAND & MARKET INVESTORS, LLC, a Washington limited liability company, on behalf of themselves and all others similarly situated,

Appellants,

v.

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT STATE OF WASHINGTON

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

BRIAN FALLER Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 18508 7141 Cleanwater Dr. SW PO Box 40108 Olympia, WA 98504-0108 (360) 753-0785

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

As noted above, the trial court granted judgment on the pleadings under CR 12(c) after striking Fedway's extrinsic evidence. The Court

³ The Board's motion to strike is at CP 472-505.

reviews this evidentiary ruling de novo. *See Cornish College of the Arts v.* 1000 Virginia Ltd. P'ship, 158 Wn. App. 203, 215, 242 P.3d 1 (2010) (summary judgment motion).

If this Court, like the trial court, excludes the extrinsic evidence, then the standard of review is the standard that applies to a CR 12(c) motion for judgment on the pleadings. The standard of review for a CR 12(c) motion for judgment on the pleadings is de novo. *P.E. Sys., LLC v. CPI Corp.*, 176 Wn.2d 198, 203, 289 P.3d 638, 642 (2012). To render judgment on the pleadings, the allegations in the pleadings must be construed strictly against the moving party, and only where it appears that there are no factual issues requiring trial and the issues can be determined as a matter of law can a motion for judgment on the pleadings be granted. *Hodgson v. Bicknell*, 49 Wn.2d 130, 136, 298 P.2d 844 (1956). On a CR 12(c) motion, the "plaintiffs allegations are presumed to be true and a court may consider hypothetical facts not included in the record." *Tenore v. AT&T Wireless Servs.*, 136 Wn.2d 322, 330, 962 P.2d 104 (1998).

If this Court allows some or all of the extrinsic evidence to be considered, then as to any claim for which such evidence is submitted, the standard is that of a CR 56 motion for summary judgment.⁴ CR 12(c) converts a motion for judgment on the pleadings to a CR 56 motion for summary judgment if admissible evidence beyond the complaint (or a contract attached to it⁵) is considered. *Stevens v. Murphy*, 69 Wn.2d 939, 421 P.2d 668 (1966) (overruled on other grounds by *Merrick v. Sutterlein*, 93 Wn.2d 411, 610 P.2d 891 (1980)).

The standard of review applied to a CR 56 motion for summary judgment is also de novo. CR 56(c) provides that a motion for summary judgment may be granted if the written record shows that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. A material fact is one upon which the outcome of the litigation depends. *Hudesman v. Foley*, 73 Wn.2d 880, 886, 441 P.2d 532 (1968). A non-moving party may not rely on speculation or argumentative assertions that unresolved factual issues remain to be tried. *White v. State*, 131 Wn.2d 1, 9, 929 P.2d 396 (1997). When evaluating a summary judgment motion, the Court must consider any evidence and inferences therefrom in the light most favorable to the

⁴ See Martin v. Ward, 132 Wn. App. 1025 (2006) (claims for which no evidence admitted ruled on under CR 12; claims for which evidence admitted ruled on under CR 56).

⁵ In *P.E. Sys., LLC v. CPI Corp.*, 176 Wn.2d 198, 205, 289 P.3d 638, 642 (2012), the Court ruled that a contract attached to a pleading is considered part of the pleading for purposes of a CR 12(c) motion for judgment on the pleadings. The Board brought its motion under 12(c) based on the *P.E. Sys.* case and the fact that even if all facts alleged in the Complaint and any hypothetic facts consistent with those are assumed true, Fedway's allegations as a matter of law fail to state a justiciable claim.

non-moving party. *Wilson v. Steinbach*, 98 Wn.2d 434, 437, 656 P.2d 1030 (1982). Summary judgment should be granted if reasonable minds could reach only one conclusion based on the facts in evidence. *White*, 131 Wn.2d at 9.

As to motions for both judgment on the pleadings and summary judgment, the same rules of contract interpretation apply:

"Washington follows the objective manifestation test for contracts." . . . Mutual assent to definite terms is normally a question of fact for the fact finder. But a question of fact may be determined as a matter of law if reasonable minds could not differ.

P.E. Sys., 176 Wn.2d at 207 (re CR 12(c) motion) (citations omitted); *see also Spradlin Rock Prod.*, *Inc. v. Pub. Util. Dist. No. 1 of Grays Harbor Cnty.*, 164 Wn. App. 641, 654-55, 266 P.3d 229, 235 (2011) ("[S]ummary judgment on an issue of contract interpretation is proper where 'the parties' written contract, viewed in light of the parties' other objective manifestations, has only one reasonable meaning.") (citations omitted).

As discussed below, under either the CR 12(c) or CR 56 standard, the trial court properly granted judgment to the Board. Under the CR 12(c) standard, assuming the truth of the allegations in the complaint and the "hypothetical" facts that Fedway submitted in the form of additional evidence, no material factual issues exist, and as a matter of law, under the unambiguous terms of the lease, reasonable minds would conclude that the leases terminated and the Board is entitled to judgment.

Similarly, under the CR 56 standard, the additional evidence Fedway submitted did not raise any genuine issues of material fact, and under the unambiguous terms of the leases, reasonable minds would conclude that the leases terminated and the WSLCB is entitled to summary judgment.

B. Fedway's Argument That the Board "Misinterpreted" I-1183 by Allowing Auction Winners to Change Locations Is Irrelevant to the Issue of Lease Termination

Fedway argues that the Board "misinterpreted" I-1183 by allowing auction winners to change locations from the original stores. Br. at 22-25, 30-31. However, this argument is simply irrelevant to the termination issue in question. The auctions were required by I-1183 (*see* RCW 66.24.620(4)(c)) and are in no way mentioned in or connected to the leases or lease termination. Whether or not I-1183 allows the Board to authorize auction winners to move their liquor store from the location of the former stores has nothing to do with whether the termination provision of the leases was triggered. The leases do not mention, allude to, or involve any auction.⁶

⁶ As noted above, Fedway did not bring any claims under the APA (RCW 35.04) seeking to enforce the provisions of I-1183, but rather raises this argument solely in the context of its contract claims.

- C. I-1183 Triggered the Termination Provision of the Leases Because It Prevented the Board From Complying With or Carrying out the Duties and Permissions of Paragraph 2
 - 1. The leases provide for termination if an enactment of law prevents the Board from complying with the duties or carrying the permissions of the leases

Paragraph 3 of both leases lists three separate grounds for lease termination.⁷

Ground one reads:

In the event of the issuance of any proclamation or order by any department of the executive branch of the government of the United States of America . . . shall prevent or make wholly unfeasible the use of the leased premises by the Washington State Liquor Control Board for the sale or storage of liquor . . . then this Lease shall terminate and the parties hereto shall be released from any and all liability for any damage or loss which may result from such inability to comply therewith.

Ground one focuses exclusively on the inability of the Board to sell or store liquor resulting from a federal executive order or proclamation. It does not cover new federal laws, such as an act of Congress or a federal Constitutional amendment. Rather, new laws in general are addressed in ground two.

Ground two reads:

[I]n the event that the enactment of any law or the decision of any court of competent jurisdiction shall prevent either

⁷ Paragraph 3 is found at Resp't App. 1 at CP 22 (Fedway lease) and Resp't App. 2 at CP 33 (Garland lease).

party hereto from complying with or carrying out the terms of this Lease . . . then this Lease shall terminate and the parties hereto shall be released from any and all liability for any damage or loss which may result from such inability to comply therewith.

Ground two is much broader in scope than either ground one or, as discussed shortly below, ground three. Ground two applies to the enactment of any law, which would include federal or state laws, whereas ground one applies only to federal executive orders and proclamations. Ground three applies only to local city and county elections under RCW 66.44; it does not include any state-wide laws or federal laws. Further, ground two applies to all decisions of any court of competent jurisdiction whereas neither ground one nor two cover any court decisions. Finally, ground two applies not to just one of the parties, but to both such that if an enactment or decision prevents *either party* from complying with or carrying out the terms of the lease, the lease terminates.

Significantly, ground two triggers lease termination not only when a party is unable to "comply with" any lease term but also when a party is unable to "carry out" any lease term. The latter expression "carry out" the terms of this lease in normal usage extends to carrying out the uses of the premises that are permitted under the lease terms. As discussed below, paragraph 2 provides that the premises shall and may be occupied, used,

held, and maintained for purposes of "selling alcoholic beverages and lottery products."8

Ground three reads:

[I]n the event that the operation of a liquor store upon the above-described premises is made unlawful as the result of an election held under RCW 66.40, then this Lease shall terminate and the parties hereto shall be released from any and all liability for any damage or loss which may result from such inability to comply therewith.

RCW 66.40 provides authority for cities and unincorporated county areas to prohibit the sale of liquor within those borders. Thus, ground three is limited to the narrow circumstances where a city or county votes to prohibit the sale of liquor.

To summarize, grounds one and three evidence intent to terminate the Leases due to certain acts that prevent the Board from selling or storing liquor. Ground two more broadly applies to all new laws or court orders that prevent either party from "complying with or carrying out" the lease terms.

⁸ The use of the word "or" in the second ground to separate the terms "complying with" or "carrying out" reinforces that those terms do not have identical meaning. *See Ball v. Stokely Foods*, 37 Wn.2d 79, 83, 221 P.2d 832 (1950) ("in the interpretation of contracts . . . every word and phrase must be presumed to have been employed with a purpose and must be given a meaning and effect whenever reasonably possible.").

2. I-1183 prevents the Board from both complying with the duties and carrying out the permissions of paragraph 2

I-1183 prevents the Board from complying with the terms of the lease because it prevents the Board from complying with duties and carrying out permissions set forth in the two sentences of paragraph 2. The first sentence of paragraph 2 states: "The premises shall be occupied by the Washington State Liquor Control Board and used solely for the purposes of selling alcoholic beverages and lottery products." Such "occupy and use" provisions in leases have legal significance and are enforceable obligations. *Capps v. W. Talc Co.*, 114 Wn. 94, 194 P. 554 (1921); *Daniels v. Ward*, 35 Wn. App. 697, 702, 669 P.2d 495, 499 (1983). Thus, if the leases were affective and the Board had ceased to occupy the premises or used the premises to sell products other than alcoholic beverages and lottery products, Fedway could have brought suit to enforce the duties in the first sentence of paragraph 2.

As noted above, I-1183 required the Board to close the state stores and stop selling liquor. *See* RCW 64.24.620(2). By closing the stores and forbidding the Board from selling liquor, I-1183 necessarily prevented the Board from complying with its duties under the first sentence of paragraph 2 both to occupy the premises to sell alcoholic beverages and to

use the premises "solely for the purposes of selling alcoholic beverages and lottery products."

The second sentence of paragraph 2 reads: "The Board shall and may peaceably and quietly have, hold and enjoy the premises for these purposes." The purposes, as stated in the first sentence, are "selling alcoholic beverages and lottery products."

The use of the words "shall" and "may" in their ordinary and popular use connote that the second sentence was intended to impose a duty through "shall" and also to confer permission through "may." "Shall" is mandatory; "may" is permissive. In particular, the use of "shall" in the second sentence imposes the duty on the Board to "peaceably and quietly have, hold and enjoy the premises for [selling alcoholic beverages and lottery products]." Because I-1183 forbids the Board from selling alcoholic beverages, it unquestionably prevents the Board from complying with the "shall" duty in the second sentence.

Further, the use of "may" in the second sentence confers permission on the Board to "peaceably and quietly have, hold and enjoy the premises for [selling alcoholic beverages and lottery products]." Because I-1183 forbids the Board from selling alcoholic beverages after

⁹ Paterson v. Paterson, 70 Wn.2d 204, 422 P.2d 474 (1967) ("usual interpretation of 'may' as permissive"); Blair v. GIM Corp., Inc., 88 Wn. App. 475, 480, 945 P.2d 1149, 1151 (1997) ("The word "may" is permissive").

June 1, 2012, it logically follows that the Board cannot after that date also exercise its permission to "peaceably and quietly have, hold and enjoy the premises for [selling alcoholic beverages]."

In summary, both of the sentences of paragraph 2 contain clear, unambiguous terms, and reasonable minds could not differ in concluding that I-1183 prevents the Board from complying with and carrying out those terms. Accordingly, the trial court properly granted the State's motion to dismiss pursuant to CR 12(c).

- D. Fedway's Arguments That I-1183 Does Not Prevent the Board From Complying With or Carrying out the Terms of the Leases Are Not Persuasive
 - 1. The fact that I-1183 did not direct the Board to stop paying rent or forbid the Board from assigning the leases is irrelevant to the Board's basis for termination

Fedway argues that I-1183 did not have the effect of terminating the Leases because I-1183 did not prohibit the Board from paying rent or require that the Board "break" the store leases. Br. at 26-27. But the termination clause in the leases does not require that a new law direct the Board to stop paying rent or to terminate the leases. Rather, as discussed above, the termination clause in the lease is triggered when a law prevents a party from complying with or carrying out any of the terms of the lease—not just the rent payment terms. Fedway would have the Court rewrite paragraph 3 to add the provision that "no ground two termination

may occur unless the enactment in question expressly provides for termination of the leases or cessation of rent payments." The Leases must be read as written, not according to after-the-fact arguments made in litigation nor according to "unexpressed subjective intent." *Hearst Commc'ns, Inc. v. Seattle Times Co.*, 154 Wn.2d 493, 503, 115 P.3d 262, 267 (2005).¹⁰

Similarly, Fedway argues that the Board was not prevented from complying with or carrying out the terms of the leases because the leases were an asset that could be sold by assignment, and nothing in I-1183 or the leases prevented the Board from assigning and requiring the bid winners to assume the unexpired leases. Br. at 26-27, 30-31. Again, Fedway's argument ignores the terms of the leases. The termination clause did not require either party to assign the lease if a law passed that prevented the party from complying with the lease; rather, the termination clause provided that if such a law passed, the lease would terminate.

The Board does not agree that the Leases were assignable without the consent of both Fedway and the Board as the leases were specific to

 $^{^{10}}$ Fedway's attempt to add an exception to ground two of paragraph 3 is further precluded by the integration clause of the leases, which provides: "[N]o guarantees, express or implied, representations, promises or statements have been made by the Lessee unless endorsed herein in writing. Any amendment or modification of this Lease must be in writing and signed by both parties." Fedway lease ¶ 17 (Resp't App. 1 at CP 26); Garland lease ¶ 16 (Resp't App. 2 at CP 36).

the Board and state processes. For example, paragraph 4¹¹ provides that "[t]he rental . . . shall be paid only from the Liquor Revolving Fund. . . ." At a minimum, the Leases would have to be amended by mutual consent of Fedway and the Board to remove that language. The integration clause of the leases requires lease amendments to be in writing signed by both parties. Resp't App. 1, ¶ 17 at CP 26; Resp't App. 2, ¶ 16 at CP 36.

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